STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable John C. Hayes, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUN 24 2019
S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DEAN ALTON HOLCOMB,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO 2016-001927

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for breach of trust when the State failed to prove that a check, written to a business for work to be done pursuant to a contract, constituted a trust relationship?
2. Did the trial judge err in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for obtaining money by false pretenses when the State failed to prove that Appellant made a fraudulent representation of an existing or past fact?
3. Did the trial judge err in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the improper remarks made by the prosecution in closing argument?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In May of 2013, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Appellant Holcomb for breach of trust, indictment #2013-GS-23-5223. (R. p. 494). This indictment was amended in August of 2016. In June of 2015, an indictment for obtaining money by false pretenses was directly presented to the Greenville County Grand Jury and Appellant was additionally indicted for this charge, indictment #2015-GS-23-4600A. (R. p. 497). On September 6, 2016, Appellant proceeded to jury trial on both indictments¹ before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III. Matthew W. Shealy represented Appellant at trial. Russell D. Ghent and Bratton S. Todd prosecuted the case. The jury returned verdicts of guilty on both charges. Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to two concurrent five year sentences. A timely notice of intent to appeal was served on September 14, 2016. This appeal follows.

¹ No motion was made to require the State to elect between the two charges.

ARGUMENTS

1. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for breach of trust when the State failed to prove that a check, written to a business for work to be done pursuant to a contract, constituted a trust relationship.

Both the breach of trust charge and the obtaining money by false pretenses charge involved a contract between Carolina Home Renovators and Robert McGinn to install a Green Tree metal roof on the McGinn home in Travelers Rest, South Carolina and make exterior repairs – stain deck and paint door - after a hail storm caused damage. (R. p. 448). The contract was signed by Mr. McGinn and the Appellant on May 25, 2012, and called for a payment of \$4,295.03 to start the work and an additional payment of \$2,885.96 upon completion for a total cost of \$7,180.00. Although not specified in the contract, Mr. McGinn testified that the new metal roof was going to be green. (R. p. 187, lines 4-8). As provided in the contract, on May 29, 2012, Mr. McGinn wrote check #1040 to Carolina Home Renovators in the amount of \$4,295.03. (R. p. 449). Mr. McGinn testified that the deck was stained and doors painted but the roof was never installed. (R. p. 166, lines 4-10; p. 171, lines 15-18).

The State introduced in evidence an invoice to Carolina Home Renovators from Green Tree Metals in the amount of \$3,179.16. (R. p. 462). The invoice listed Hawaiian blue metal roofing to be delivered to an address in Lyman, South Carolina. The invoice was stamped as paid on May 29, 2012, the same day Mr. McGinn wrote the check to Carolina Home Renovators. The owner of Green Tree Metals testified that Appellant paid the invoice with a Visa card. (R. p. 220, lines 1-13). The State failed to introduce any financial records from Carolina Home Renovators or from Appellant's personal accounts. Susan and Kenneth Clark testified that Appellant installed a Hawaiian blue metal roof on their home in Lyman, South Carolina in June

of 2012. (R. pp. 234-242; 245-247). There were no other invoices billed from Green Tree Metals to Carolina Home Renovators after May 29, 2012. (R. p. 221, lines 9-13).

At the close of the State's case, Appellant moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on both the breach of trust and the obtaining money by false pretenses charges. (R. pp. 418-426). Appellant argued in regard to the breach of trust charge, "And, quite frankly, Judge, you can't have -- there simply wasn't a trust because there was nothing in the document that says that four thousand, two hundred and eighty-eight dollars (\$4, 288.00), I believe, or whatever the figure was was to go solely to this particular job, to purchase this particular metal." (R. p. 346, lines 24 -- p. 347, lines 1-5). Appellant argued that there was no requirement that the money received from Mr. McGinn, pursuant to the contract, be placed in a trust account where the proceeds of that account were to be used only for the McGinn job. (R. p. 347, lines 6-15). Appellant argued that the facts of the present case may form the basis for a civil breach of contract action act case but it was not a criminal case. (R. pp. 348 -- 349). The judge denied the motion and stated:

I will sort of -- this is not the traditional breach of trust case we see, quite frankly. Usually that is somebody who works for a company and takes the company till and supposed to take it to the bank and instead of taking it to the bank, takes it home. That's what we usually see in breach of trust cases. The clerk at Hardee's doesn't take the night deposit, they take it home instead. So this is not the traditional case as far as one that I've tried, but I do believe that the evidence is sufficient to get it to the jury.

(R. p. 357, lines 8-17). The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal on the breach of trust charge when the State failed to prove that Appellant received money from Mr. McGinn in trust. The State failed to prove the existence of a trust relationship.

In State v. Parris, 363 S.C. 477, 482, 611 S.E.2d 501, 503 (2005), the South Carolina Supreme Court wrote:

In State v. Shirer, 20 S.C. 392, 408 (1884), the Court stated, "the object of our [breach of trust] act was simply to enlarge the field of larceny, removing what

before might have been a defense for those who received property in trust and afterwards fraudulently appropriated it. The question under our act is, whether the party received the property in trust, which he afterwards violated....” Therefore, the State must prove the existence of a trust relationship to sustain a charge of breach of trust with fraudulent intent. See State v. LeMaster, 231 S.C. 321, 98 S.E.2d 756 (1957). Failure to prove the existence of a trust relationship will result in a directed verdict of acquittal for the defendant. Id.

The trial judge erred in refusing to grant a directed verdict of acquittal for the breach of trust charge because the State failed to prove the existence of a trust relationship.

The indictment in the present case alleges:

That in Greenville County on or about May 25, 2012, the Defendant, Dean Alton Holcomb, did enter into a contract to replace the damaged roof at the home of the victim Robert McGinn, with some additional repairs that included staining a deck and siding and painting the door of said home at ** Beaver Dam Road in Travelers Rest. The contract called for an initial payment by the victim of \$4,295.03 and a final payment of \$2,885.96 upon completion.

The victim on May 29, 2012 paid \$4,295.03 to Defendant Dean Alton Holcomb for the partial payment of the repairs. The Defendant did not ever repair the roof as agreed upon and instead misappropriated the monies paid to him by the victim, in whole or in substantial part for other uses in his business and otherwise acted with unlawful and fraudulent intent in dealings with the victim, Robert McGinn, all of this constituting the crime of breach of trust with fraudulent intent in excess of \$2,000 but less than \$10,000 in violation of Section §16-13-0230(A),(B)(2) of the South Carolina Code of Laws (1976, as amended).

(Indictment #2013-GS-23-5223, R. p. 495). The indictment fails to allege a trust relationship. Accepting payment, pursuant to the contract in this case, for work to be done does not establish a trust relationship.

In the present case the State failed to prove that Appellant received money in trust. Mr. McGinn paid Appellant to install a roof and make exterior repairs pursuant to a contract. Appellant received the money as a payment, not in trust. Once Appellant received the payment from Mr. McGinn, there was nothing to prevent him from using it for his own benefit. There is nothing in the contract or otherwise in the record to establish that the particular funds Mr.

McGinn paid were to be used exclusively for the McGinn job. There was no breakdown in the contract between materials and labor. Appellant started work pursuant to the contract but failed to complete the work as outlined in the contract. The case presents the classic example of a case that should be decided in civil court as a civil breach of contract action rather than a criminal breach of trust.

The present case is distinguished from Parris where the South Carolina Supreme Court found there was sufficient evidence to present the jury with the issue of whether a trust relationship existed between the buyers of a mobile home and a mobile home dealer. When the buyers paid the dealer, they trusted that he would use that money to their benefit and deliver the mobile home with a clear title. As the dealer did not have a title to the purchased mobile home, he took the buyers' money in trust and had a duty to pay the bank who held the title in order to deliver the mobile home to the buyers with a clear title. Instead, the dealer took the money and used it for his own benefit. In the present case, Appellant accepted payment not money in trust. Appellant had no duty to hold the money in trust and was free to use the money for his own benefit.

In State v. Jackson, 338 S.C. 565, 569, 527 S.E.2d 367, 369 (Ct. App. 2000) this Court wrote:

The State is required to prove every element of a charged offense to obtain a conviction. State v. Attardo, 263 S.C. 546, 211 S.E.2d 868 (1975); State v. Barksdale, 311 S.C. 210, 428 S.E.2d 498 (Ct.App.1993). In reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998). However, where the facts of the case, even if proved, do not constitute the alleged criminal conduct, a directed verdict must be granted. See State v. Lee, 294 S.C. 461, 365 S.E.2d 734 (1988).

In Jackson the defendant traded his 1990 Mazda toward the purchase of a 1993 Nissan. The dealership, by mistake, sent the payoff check for the Mazda to the defendant rather than the

Mazda lien holder. The defendant was able to cash the check and when informed of the mistake refused to return the money. Jackson was convicted a breach of trust. This Court reversed finding that Jackson received the money by mistake not in trust. While Appellant in the present case did not receive the money by mistake, he did not receive the money in trust. Appellant received the money as payment. As in Jackson, the facts of the present case do not constitute breach of trust because the State failed to prove a trust relationship. As in Jackson, because the State failed to prove an essential element of the crime charged, the existence of a trust, the conviction must be reversed and the case remanded for the entry of a judgment of acquittal.

2. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for obtaining money by false pretenses when the State failed to prove that Appellant made a fraudulent representation of an existing or past fact.

Appellant additionally moved for a direct verdict of acquittal for the obtaining money by false pretenses charge. (R. p. 353, line 21 – p. 354, lines 1-18). The trial judge denied the motion stating, “But I’m going to deny the motion for directed verdict. I believe there’s sufficient evidence as to obtaining money under false pretenses sufficient to – looking at it in the light most favorable to the State to allow it to go forward to a jury.” (R. p. 357, lines 3-7). The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for obtaining money by false pretenses.

In State v. McCutcheon, 284 S.C. 524, 525, 327 S.E.2d 372, 372 (Ct. App. 1985) this

Court wrote:

False pretenses is defined in State v. Love, 275 S.C. 55, 271 S.E.2d 110 (1980) as follows:

A “false pretense” is such a fraudulent representation of an *existing* or *past* fact by one who knows it not to be true, as is adapted to induce a person to whom it is made to part with something of value. (Emphasis ours.)

A promise to do something in the future cannot constitute the basis of a prosecution for obtaining goods under false pretenses. A postdated check is a promise to pay at a future time. State v. Winter, 98 S.C. 294, 82 S.E. 419 (1914).

The indictment in the present case alleges:

That the defendant, Dean Alton Holcomb, did in Greenville County, on or about May 25, 2012, represent to the victim, Robert McGinn, in Greenville County that Defendant, acting in Greenville County through his business, Carolina Home Renovations, would repair the roof of victim’s house in Greenville County; in line therewith, Defendant did accept from the victim a written instrument, check #1040, drawn on the Bank of Traveler’s Rest on the victim’s account with said bank, said check in the amount of \$4,295.00, (said amount being greater than \$2,000, but less than \$10,000). The repairs to victim’s roof were never made by Defendant or his business, as Defendant represented.

Defendant made these representations, accepted said payment in line therewith, endorsed and negotiated/cashed said check, all by false pretense and

representations, with the intent to cheat and defraud the victim of the instrument and money obtained by Defendant from the victim.

All this in violation of the laws of South Carolina, and S.C. Code Ann. Section 16-13-240(2) (1976 as amended).

(Indictment #2015-GS-23-4600A, R. p. 498). The indictment fails to allege that Appellant made a fraudulent representation of an existing or past fact. The promise to repair the roof in the future cannot constitute the basis of a prosecution for obtaining money by false pretenses.

The State is required to prove every element of the crime for which an accused is charged. Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307, 316, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 2787, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979); In re Winship, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 90 S.Ct. 1068, 1072, 25 L.Ed.2d 368 (1970). In reviewing the denial of a motion for directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998). However, where the facts of the case, even if proved, do not constitute the alleged criminal conduct, a directed verdict must be granted. See State v. Lee, 294 S.C. 461, 365 S.E.2d 734 (1988).

Viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, the State failed to prove that Appellant made a fraudulent representation of an existing or past fact, an element of obtaining money by false pretenses. The purported breach of the contract, without a false representation, could be the subject of a civil breach of contract action but not a criminal action. The trial judge erred in refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal for obtaining money by false pretenses.

3. The trial judge erred in refusing to grant a mistrial based on the improper remarks made by the prosecution in closing argument.

Following the State's closing argument Appellant moved for a mistrial based on improper remarks made by the prosecution. Specifically, counsel for Appellant stated:

We would move or my client and I move for a mistrial based on the improper arguments made by the solicitor in closing. Throughout his closing Mr. Ghent pointed out how seasoned he was, how long he's been doing this. It's been thirty-seven years and yet he argued both a grand jury, which is clearly improper, one of those things they teach you at first year solicitor school as well as arguing something that was clearly held to be irrelevant, kept out of the testimony at trial. We had a hearing on it. Your Honor refused to allow them to use that particular phrase and yet Mr. Ghent used it anyway.

(R. p. 399, line 25 – p. 400, lines 1-11). Trial counsel specifically objected to the prosecution's use of the term "meth making mama" and argued there was manifest necessity for a mistrial. (R. p. 400, lines 14-18). The trial judge denied the motion for a mistrial. (R. p. 402, line 19 – p. 403, 404, lines 1-5). The trial judge stated, "As to the reference to the grand jury, I believe I actually stopped that if I recall correct. And as to the meth making mama, Mr. Ghent told the jury to disregard that. And I can certainly again tell them to disregard that, but that's sort of a statement in the air. I don't know where that – I don't – that was never in his argument connected to Mr. Holcomb [Appellant]. I don't know that the jury would connect that to Mr. Holcomb or not because he didn't connect it to Mr. Holcomb. (R. p. 402, line 19 – p. 403, lines 1-4).

Earlier in the trial the prosecution asked Mr. McGinn if Appellant posted on YouTube about Mr. McGinn's daughter Megan and whether Appellant had a nickname for her. (R. p. 166, lines 13-18). Appellant objected. (R. p. 166, line 19). The prosecution proffered the testimony from Mr. McGinn that Appellant called the daughter, Megan, the meth making mama. (R. p.

167, lines 14-22). The judge properly sustained the objection and did not allow the testimony before the jury. (R. p. 169, line 17).

During closing argument the prosecutor told the jury, "And as a result they were in the hospital when his daughter went down, finally, Megan, who, again, Megan, the meth making mama - - -" (R. p. 389, lines 3-5). Appellant immediately objected and the judge sustained the objection. (R. p. 389, lines 6-8). The prosecutor apologized and told the jury to disregard. (R. p. 389, lines 11-15). The prosecutor's reference to Megan the meth making mama was improper because it was calculated to arouse the juror's passions or prejudices and was outside of the record. Based on the earlier questioning of Mr. McGinn by the prosecutor, the jury easily could have connected the nickname to Appellant.

In State v. Rudd, 355 S.C. 543, 548-49, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003), this Court wrote, "A solicitor's closing argument must be carefully tailored so it does not appeal to the personal biases of the jurors. Copeland, 321 S.C. at 324, 468 S.E.2d at 624; State v. Linder, 276 S.C. 304, 312, 278 S.E.2d 335, 339 (1981). Further, the argument must not be calculated to arouse the jurors' passions or prejudices, and its content should stay within the record and reasonable inferences to it. Simmons v. State, 331 S.C. 333, 338, 503 S.E.2d 164, 166 (1998)." The reference to the nickname, ruled inadmissible by the judge, was improper.

As to the reference to the grand jury, during closing the prosecution told the jury, "This case was not brought on a warrant. This case was brought on an indictment that goes through a grand jury." (R. p. 387, lines 6-7). Appellant immediately objected and the judge sustained the objection. (R. p. 387, lines 12-13). When the trial judge denied the motion for a mistrial based on the improper closing, the trial judge additionally noted jury would know that the case had been presented to the grand jury because the indictments note grand jury presentment and the

jury would have the indictments during deliberations. (R. p. 403, lines 8-18). The trial judge erred.

In State v. Rudd, 355 S.C. 543, 586 S.E.2d 153 (Ct. App. 2003), this Court found that the prosecutor's references in closing argument to a preliminary hearing and grand jury presentment were improper. In Rudd this Court wrote:

Our supreme court has repeatedly condemned closing arguments that lessen the jury's sense of responsibility by referencing preliminary determinations of the facts. See, e.g., State v. Thomas, 287 S.C. 411, 412, 339 S.E.2d 129 (1986) (citing Thompson v. Aiken, 281 S.C. 239, 315 S.E.2d 110 (1984); State v. Sloan, 278 S.C. 435, 298 S.E.2d 92 (1982); State v. Woomer, 277 S.C. 170, 284 S.E.2d 357 (1981)). "These statements to the jury are improper because they inject an arbitrary factor into jury deliberations. The danger is that a juror might be persuaded to rely on the opinion of others instead of exercising his independent judgment as to the facts..." Thomas, 287 S.C. at 412-13, 339 S.E.2d at 129.

State v. Rudd, 355 S.C. 543, 549, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003). The comment referencing the grand jury presentment was improper.

Additionally, during closing the prosecutor made numerous references to his experience and the inexperience of counsel for Appellant. At the beginning of the closing the prosecutor told the jury:

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