STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

2016

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

Appellate Case No. 2016-001927

THE STATE,RESPONDENT

v.

DEAN ALTON HOLCOMB,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

RUSSELL D. GHENT
Assistant Solicitor
S.C. Bar No. 2439

180 Magnolia Street
Spartanburg, South Carolina 29306
(864) 596-2575

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

on the facts, was warranted in light of the attacks on the prosecutor, the officers, Victim and the State's case, and merely commented on admissions Appellant's trial counsel had already made. Furthermore, it did not infect the jury's deliberations with undue prejudice, and any possible error was rendered harmless because the proof of the State's case was overwhelming. When defense counsel in essence encourages jurors to ignore the trial judge's instructions as to the very nature of a criminal case, it cannot be fairly presumed they will just take the law from the trial judge and properly do their duty, without some further corrective action or instruction.

Standard of Review

The decision to grant or deny a mistrial is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned on appeal absent an abuse of discretion amounting to an error of law. *State v. Inman*, 395 S.C. 539, 565, 720 S.E.2d 31, 45 (2011); *State v. Meggett*, 398 S.C. 516, 524, 728 S.E.2d 492, 496 (Ct. App. 2012). The granting of a motion for a mistrial is an extreme measure that should be taken only when the incident is so grievous the prejudicial effect can be removed in no other way. *Inman*, 395 S.C. at 565, 720 S.E.2d at 45. A mistrial should be granted only when absolutely necessary and a defendant must show both error and resulting prejudice to be entitled to a mistrial. *Meggett*, 398 S.C. at 524. 728 S.E.2d at 496.

The trial court has wide discretion in ruling on the appropriateness of a closing argument. *State v. Copeland*, 321 S.C. 318, 324, 468 S.E.2d 620, 624 (1996). Appellate courts will not disturb the trial court's ruling regarding a closing argument unless there is a clear abuse of discretion. *State v. Rudd*, 355 S.C. 543, 548, 586 S.E.2d 153, 156 (Ct. App. 2003). In considering this issue, the solicitor's remarks must be evaluated in the context in which they were made. *See State v. Weaver*, 361 S.C. 73, 89, 602 S.E.2d 786, 794 ("In making this determination, we must examine the alleged impropriety in the context of the entire record.").

“The relevant question is whether the solicitor’s comments so infected the trial with unfairness as to make the resulting conviction a denial of due process.” *State v. Patterson*, 324 S.C. 5, 17, 482 S.E.2d 760, 766 (1997).

Subject to actual fraud or dishonesty, the decision to indict a defendant and on what charge to try a defendant is the domain of the prosecutor. *State v. Langford*, 400 S.C. 421, 434, 735 S.E.2d 471, 478 (2012). It is not for the jurors to speculate as to whether a civil, as opposed to criminal, court is appropriate for a case, but rather to follow the instructions of the court in the criminal case before them to determine guilt or innocence.

A jury is bound by and must accept and be governed by the instructions given to them by the court. See *State v. Woomer*, 276 S.C. 258, 267, 277 S.E.2d 696, 701 (1981), *appeal after remand* 278 S.C. 468, 299 S.E.2d 317 (1982), *cert. denied* *Woomer v. South Carolina*, 463 U.S. 1229 (1983). A jury must take the law as the trial judge has given it to them and apply it to the facts of the case. *State v. Queen*, 264 S.C. 515, 521, 216 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1975) (“It is the duty of jurors to take the law from the court in the particular case on trial. It must be presumed that they do so.”).

Relevant Facts

As set forth above, the proof of guilt was overwhelming. There was no error but assuming error arguendo, it was invited by defense counsel after the prosecutor made numerous efforts to prevent defense counsel’s improper strategy of nullification. Well before trial of the case the State filed a pretrial motion regarding juror nullification, in anticipation of this possible tactic being pursued by Appellant’s trial counsel. The solicitor’s argument before the trial judge in the motion hearing could not have been clearer as to his position. The solicitor said: “I don’t want this matter characterized in any way shape or form as a civil matter. That is a left-handed

way of seeking juror nullification. The decision was made by law enforcement to go forward with it as a criminal matter. That is not [to be undone by leave to] tell the jury [to] disregard the judge; disregard the prosecution, disregard [the] court. That's improper. Thank you" (R.p.82-p.83). The Appellant's trial counsel responded, "I think it's me saying that these acts weren't criminal; that it just don't—it doesn't rise to a criminal matter and I think I'm allowed to pen [sic] it. That's part of my job is to say you got to find him not guilty." (R.p.83, lines 9-14).

The trial judge denied the State's motion, but qualified his ruling by stating "but I'm gonna be alert if that comes up during a trial and you believe a line has been crossed we'll deal with it then. But I think that's at this point without any research I think that's a legitimate argument that this—my client committed something, did wrong, but it's not a crime." (R.p.83, lines 15-20).

Only in regard to a general recognition that it is appropriate for trial counsel to argue that elements of a crime are unproven, the Assistant Solicitor agreed such language was appropriate and said so stating, "that much I can see. [But] [s]aying you're in the wrong court is basically saying don't pay any attention to the instructions of the judge this is not about a crime." (R.p.83, lines 21-24). The trial judge then stated: "I'm certainly not gonna allow him to argue jury nullification. We've got a belly full of that in this area with people handing out pamphlets. Anyway I'll stay tuned to that." (R.p.84, lines 4-8).

Notwithstanding the State's motion, the Court's cautionary ruling and words, and notice given to Appellant's trial counsel well before trial, the Appellant's trial counsel still ignored these limits and went well beyond mere claims of lack of proof, and in substance and effect sought nullification. Caution was ignored as were the limitations that had been set. It was overlooked by trial counsel that others involved in a criminal case are guaranteed fundamental

fairness, including the victims of crime. S.C. Const. Art. I, § 24 (A)(1) [Victims Bill of Rights]. Appellant's trial counsel did not hesitate to barrel through any boundaries of fair play to Victim and the State in his opening statement when he said, "[a]nd the reason this has drug on so long is because they won't tell Mr. McGinn he's in the wrong." (R.p.141, lines 18-19). The words were absolutely untrue and Appellant's trial counsel well knew it. The assistant solicitor immediately objected, the jury was sent out, and the State moved for a mistrial. The motion was denied. (R.p.141-p.142).

In his motion for mistrial, the assistant solicitor pointed out that Appellant's trial counsel was plainly misrepresenting the circumstances to the jury. As a result of that misrepresentation, which was the jurors' very first impression of the case, jurors had been critically misled, inviting speculation and putting in their minds a completely misleading basis for the delay. As argued by the prosecutor: "[f]or him to stand there and tell the jury this case has taken so long [because the prosecutor won't tell Mr. McGinn he's in the wrong]", it has taken so long because his client threatened a prosecutor and an officer in this circuit. No judge will touch it. No prosecutor will touch it." (R.p.142, lines 13-16).

The assistant solicitor continued: "[h]e was also reported to have made threats against Judge Verdin for revoking his bond. [trial counsel's statement] was a flagrant misrepresentation. And afterwards this juror right here, the gentleman, and this juror right here, the woman with the braided hair, started whispering to each other. I move for a mistrial, your Honor. The State cannot possibly get a fair trial. That is the most outrageous thing I've ever seen a defense attorney do. That was a blatant misrepresentation to the jury." (R.p.142, lines 3-25).³

³ Discovery materials were submitted to the trial judge under seal as to circumstances surrounding other threats made by Appellant while awaiting trial, and which might have put two other detainees at risk if their names were revealed. Rule 5(d)(1), SCRCrimP. They are not being designated by the State for inclusion in the record on appeal but can be transported to this Court under seal if requested.

The prosecutor took the following steps to preserve his position and objection for the record: (1) he made a timely objection; (2) he interrupted no further than necessary, having preserved the issue in his pretrial motion and contemporaneous objection, and allowed counsel to complete his opening statement to the jury; *of special significance* Appellant's counsel chose to leave these objectionable remarks as the last thought for the jury as they began the trial; (3) after the jury was sent out, the assistant solicitor immediately moved for a mistrial due to the likelihood of extreme prejudice from a false claim that a private citizen was in charge of defendant's criminal prosecution rather than the State's prosecutor and an even more blatantly prejudicial claim the State was going forward only because it was unwilling to "tell [the victim] he's in the wrong"; and (4) the state's prosecutor demonstrated more than a mere suggestion, allegation, or the mere appearance of prejudice by immediately pointing out two specific jurors who had begun whispering to each other almost immediately in reaction to the remarks. (R.p.141-p.143). This was unrefuted at the trial level.

At the end of trial, Appellant's trial counsel returned to his argument that the State, SLED, and the assistant solicitor brought in to prosecute the case were all Victim's toadies rather than independent agents attempting to do justice. Specifically, counsel said:

And as I told you what you've just seen is an excellent example of breach of contract. Unfortunately, for whatever reason, Mr. McGinn didn't choose to go out and hire his own lawyer, serve my client, have him in civil court. And I'll tell you, if I had been my client's attorney in that civil courtroom, I would have told him, yeah, you've breached the contract, you owe him some portion of the money because he clearly owes him some portion of the money."

....

"But ultimately I expect that difference could have been bridged in any kind of civil courtroom. But instead he went into his—gotten *all the machinery*

you've got as his collections agency. And you saw how many police officers, how many solicitors they got in here all at public expense to chase this money. Now, I can't tell you why they've done that, but that's what happened."

.....

"And so they brought all these other law enforcement officials in here. And they brought a bunch of documents that a year later, 2014, they go serve a search warrant up in Gaston County and pull a bunch of documents from his house. Now remember, he's already been arrested at this point for at least a year. So this thing had been going on for at least a year at this point."

.....

"Because I understand that right now they're going after a contractor, but if you don't think that a credit card company is going to get more prosecutions than regular people, then you don't know government. Who pays them? Who pays for their lawyer?"

And remember, Mr. McGinn was not some poor fellow. His jobs are three to four million dollars apiece, eight million in the aggregate. And he was real quick with those numbers. All right.

So I understand you're thinking, surely it won't happen to regular people. And maybe you're right, but the way the government works, I don't know that I'd want to take that chance."

.....

"Now I believe that my client did absolutely nothing criminal here. And I'll believe it til I die that you will find my client not guilty of all of these things."

(R.p.369-p.381) (emphasis added).

By way of comparison, the prosecutor did not give a personal opinion on the facts as Appellant's Counsel had done, nor did he strike foul blows nor use improper methods. Instead, he responded with the verbal equivalent of a resume. Being old by appearances and having felt that he, his case, and his colleagues had been professionally attacked while the jury factually misled, he first responded by, unfortunately, citing his own experience to make clear he had done

more work in his career than to spend merely 37 years as an assistant solicitor. (R.p. 382, line 16- p. 384, line 7).

Solicitor's Experience

A. Issue is Not Preserved for Appellate Review

First, in regard to the remarks about the prosecutor's "wealth of experience", the current challenge to those comments is not preserved for appellate review because Appellant did not object at trial. *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-94 (2003). If an error is not presented to and ruled upon by the trial court, it cannot be raised for the first time to the appellate court. *State v. Freiburger*, 366 S.C. 125, 135, 620 S.E.2d 737, 742 (2005). Indeed, the appellate court will not consider any issues that were not presented to or passed upon by the trial court. *State v. Fleming*, 254 S.C. 415, 421, 175 S.E.2d 624, 627 (1970). In any event, the Assistant Solicitor's remarks were proper as an invited response.

Appellant's opening statement and closing argument injected the extraneous considerations of whether Appellant should have been charged with a crime instead of facing a civil suit from Victim. As a result, the solicitor was fully permitted to comment on his experience as it related to distinguishing between the criminal and civil arenas. *See State v. Ellenberg*, 367 S.C. 66, 69, 625 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2006) ("Once the defendant opens the door, the solicitor's invited response is appropriate so long as it does not unfairly prejudice the defendant."); *see also Patterson*, 324 S.C. at 17, 482 S.E.2d at 766 (finding solicitor's closing argument comments were an invited response and did not render the trial fundamentally unfair); *Meggett*, 398 S.C. at 524-25, 728 S.E.2d at 496-97 (finding solicitor's statement that there was no evidence the victim was a prostitute was a comment on the evidence, or lack thereof,

presented during trial, and did not improperly shift the burden of proof or suggest that the defendant's guilt could be inferred from his failure to testify or present a defense).

B. Solicitor's Argument was an Invited Response

The South Carolina Supreme Court has recognized the doctrine of "invited reply", a rule first outlined more than a half century ago by the United States Supreme Court. *Lawn v. United States*, 355 U.S. 339 (1958). Although actual recognition of the doctrine as such was initially vague and seen first only as a continued application of existing legal principles, the United States Supreme Court recognized the doctrine by name. *Id.* at 359-60 n.15 ("Moreover, petitioners' counsel in his summation to the jury had argued that the Government's case was persecution of petitioners, had been instituted in bad faith at the instance of a group of revenue agents; and was supported 'solely' by the testimony of Roth and Lubben who were admitted perjurers, and counsel in his opening statement had said that the United States Attorney and his assistant in charge of the case 'had been instructed, or in my opinion they never would have done this? These comments clearly invited the reply which petitioner now attacks.")

In conjunction with the invited reply doctrine, the United States Supreme Court in *United States v. Young*, 470 U.S. 1 (1985) recognized the additional protections of the "plain-error doctrine" of Federal Rule 52(b) which "tempers the blow of a rigid application of the contemporaneous-objection requirement. Reviewing courts are not to use the plain-error doctrine to consider trial court errors not meriting appellate review absent timely objection—a practice which we have criticized as 'extravagant protection.'" *Id.* at 15-16, citing *Henderson v. Kibbe*, 431 U.S. 145, 154 n.12 (1977). In this case, the prosecutor's argument did not constitute plain error, and "[was] not such as to undermine the fundamental fairness of the trial and contribute to a miscarriage of justice." *Id.*

The Court in *Young* commented that appellate review as to plain error requires proper review of the entire record, and that “it is particularly important for appellate courts to relive the whole trial imaginatively and not to extract from episodes in isolation abstract questions of evidence and procedure. To turn a criminal trial into a quest for error no more promotes the ends of justice than to acquiesce in low standards of criminal prosecution.” *Id.* (citing *Johnson v. United States*, 318 U.S. 189 (1943) (Frankfurter, J. concurring)).

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